**RECEIVED**

**Feb 16 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Cherokee County

Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

CHARLES BRIDGES,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000977

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err when it determined that Petitioner failed to prove his claim of newly discovered evidence where the court ruled that the post-plea confession to the murder by Petitioner's biological mother and co-defendant was 1) not new information to Petitioner and 2) not evidence of such a weight and quality that the interests of justice required Petitioner's plea to be vacated?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Petitioner's Background*

Petitioner Charles Bridges was first removed from the custody of his biological mother and co-defendant, Dawn Wilkins, at fifteen-months-old due to domestic violence, neglect, and abuse in the home. His older sister was also removed from the home at that time. For the next thirteen months, both children were fostered by Everette and Kathy Bridges. Petitioner and his sister were returned to the custody of Wilkins just after Petitioner turned two years old. Thirteen months later, the children were again removed from the custody of Wilkins when it was discovered that Petitioner's sister had been sexually abused by different men. Although he could not verbalize it due to his age, counselors firmly believed that Petitioner was sexually abused. Mrs. Bridges believed that Wilkins herself was responsible for the molestation of Petitioner. App. 111, ll. 7-21. Petitioner was eventually adopted by Mr. and Mrs. Bridges. App. 68, ll. 19-21.

Petitioner attended school through the eighth grade. App. 100, ll. 24-25. Throughout his education, he was taught in special education classes due to emotional disability. App. 155. At a young age, two and fourteen-years-old respectively, Petitioner was introduced to alcohol and marijuana. At seventeen-years-old, he began smoking methamphetamine and became addicted. He was found to have a problematic pattern of methamphetamine use that led to clinically significant impairment. Petitioner's biological parents both had a history of alcohol, methamphetamine, and crack cocaine use. App. 157-158.

Over the course of his youth, Petitioner received various mental health diagnoses to include unspecified disruptive, impulse-control, conduct disorder, ADHD, intermittent explosive disorder, PTSD, oppositional defiant disorder, and various substance abuse disorders. From

2003 until 2013, he received treatment for diagnoses including conduct disorder, ADHD, alcohol use disorder, child sexual abuse (suspected), and child neglect. From May 23 to August 4, 2016, he was hospitalized and treated for various substance use disorders and conduct disorder following an incident where he brought drug paraphilia and a weapon onto school property. App. 155-156; App. 159. During the competency to stand trial evaluation that was ordered by the circuit court in the present case, Petitioner was diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder and stimulant use disorder. App. 160.

Shortly after turning seventeen in December of 2016, Petitioner reconnected with Wilkins<sup>1</sup> for the first time through his older sister. For six weeks, he lived with Wilkins and Gary Stone in Stone's mobile home. During that time, Petitioner witnessed domestic disputes between Wilkins and Stone and was physically assaulted by Stone himself. After being struck by Stone, Petitioner moved back in with his adoptive parents. When he went to collect his belongings from Stone's home, Stone struck him again and told him that he could not have his belongings back. Mrs. Bridges observed marks on Petitioner after the incident and texted Wilkins to not contact Petitioner anymore. The contact between Wilkins and Petitioner ceased until February 3, 2017, when Wilkins called Petitioner asking him to come get her because Stone had threatened her life. App. 112, l. 4-App. 114, l. 2.

### *The Investigation*

On November 9, 2017, the Cherokee County Sheriff's Department received information from Richard Smith about the possible murder of his neighbor, Gary Stone. Based on the information Smith provided, officers obtained and executed a search warrant for Stone's mobile home. Underneath Stone's mobile home, officers located several containers. Discovered within

---

<sup>1</sup> Wilkins's parental rights were terminated by the family court when Petitioner was eighteen months old. App. 212, ll. 23-24.

the containers were the dismembered head, legs, feet, and arms of an adult, white male. The torso of an adult, white male was found in a trashcan behind the trailer. The internal organs from the torso were found in suitcase under the trailer. App. 108, l. 21-App. 109, l. 16.

The body parts were determined to be those of Gary Stone. An autopsy was performed by Dr. Janice Ross in Newberry. The manner of death was found to be exsanguination and perforation of the lungs due to stab wounds of the chest and back. Asphyxia by choke hold was found to be a “significant condition contributing to death” but was not the cause of death. App. 109, l. 19-App. 110, l. 3; App. 152.

Petitioner and Wilkins were questioned by police about the murder and dismemberment of Stone on February 9, 2017. Over the course of the day, both Petitioner and Wilkins gave multiple statements to police about the incident and their involvement. Both parties stated that Wilkins called Petitioner for help because Stone had threatened her with a knife and a gun. While on the phone with Wilkins, Petitioner overheard Stone threaten to kill him and Wilkins if he came over to Stone’s home. Petitioner, who did not have a car or driver’s license, arranged for a ride to Stone’s home so he could get his mother. Shortly after he arrived, Stone confronted Petitioner, punching him in the face. The two began to fight. Stone pinned Petitioner to the ground and pulled out a switch blade to stab Petitioner, at which point Petitioner placed Stone in a “sleeper hold.” Once Stone was subdued, Petitioner went inside the trailer with Wilkins. They claimed that a short time later, Stone entered the trailer, retrieved some personal items, and left. They claimed that they had not seen Stone since the fight. App. 130-131; App. 144-147.

Petitioner was questioned a second time on February 9, 2017. In his second statement he repeated the same initial narrative but stated that after Stone was subdued in a chokehold, he stabbed Stone in the back near his spine to make sure he would not get back up. Petitioner stated

he had stabbed Stone to paralyze him but not to kill him. When he went back to check on Stone, approximately thirty to sixty minutes later, he found him dead. Petitioner stated he panicked, so he dismembered Stone and attempted to get rid of the body parts by pouring boric acid on them. He claimed that, while Wilkins was present, she did not have anything to do with the murder or dismemberment of Stone. App. 132-135.

On April 26, 2018, Petitioner gave a third statement to police. The initial narrative that Petitioner had repeated twice in February remained the same. Petitioner wrote that while in the fight with Stone, he ended up on the ground, and Stone attempted to stab him. He stated that while he was pinned underneath Stone, he saw Wilkins's hands come down in a stabbing motion and that he was then able to place Stone in a sleeper hold or chokehold to subdue him. Once Stone was subdued, Petitioner noticed blood on his jeans and a wound to Stone's lower back. He did not understand how it had occurred at the time because he was high on methamphetamine during the incident. A short time later, he checked Stone's pulse and realized that he was dead. According to Petitioner, Wilkins instructed him that they had to get rid of the body and told him to dismember Stone and hide the body parts under the trailer. Petitioner wrote that he had not slept for a week at that point, because he had been using methamphetamine. When the police came to perform a welfare check, they spoke with Wilkins and not Petitioner. Petitioner admitted to telling Richard Smith a version of what had occurred. He stated he told Smith that he had killed Stone hoping it would force Wilkins into accepting responsibility. He averred that he was only guilty of dismembering Stone, that the prior statements were false, and that he had only confessed to the murder to keep Wilkins out of trouble. App. 139-143

In Wilkins's second statement, given on November 16, 2017, she denied all involvement in the murder and dismemberment of Stone. Her narrative about being threatened by Stone and

calling Petitioner for help did not change. She stated that she saw the two fighting and saw Petitioner use a chokehold on Stone. She also stated that she went inside during the middle of the fight and starting drinking. Wilkins mentioned that there was another young white male at the trailer during the fight but stated she did not know who he was. She claimed that when they discovered Stone dead in the yard, it was Petitioner's idea to dismember the body and hide it beneath the trailer. She only admitted to helping Petitioner move Stone's body after they discovered him dead prior to dismembering him. App. 148-151. Petitioner and Wilkins were charged with the murder of Stone. App. 80, ll. 9-12. The Cherokee County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder during its March 2018 term. App. 127-128

#### *Pre-trial Motions and Plea*

On December 2, 2019, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable J. Derham Cole with his appointed attorney, Michael Morin. Solicitor Barry Barnette prosecuted the case. App. 1. The parties held a hearing pursuant to Jackson v. Denno<sup>2</sup> to determine the admissibility of Petitioner's statements to police. Detectives testified that Petitioner was read and waived Miranda<sup>3</sup> warnings, was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol, and was not coerced into making a statement. App. 13, l. 17-App. 15, l. 22; App. 27, l. 18-App. 30, l. 20. Detectives confirmed Petitioner was taken into custody at three in the afternoon and gave his second statement between 9:05 pm and 10:51 pm. App 132. During that time Petitioner was offered some candy. That was the only food he was given while in police custody. App. 34, ll. 7-20. Detectives also testified that Petitioner signed the second waiver form with two names, "Charles Bridges" and "Charles Keiser." App. 28, ll. 19-24; App. 132. None of the statements given by

---

<sup>2</sup> 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

<sup>3</sup> 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

Petitioner were audio or video recorded. App. 37, ll. 18-22. Both statements taken on November 9, 2017, were written by the detectives who took the statements. App. 20, ll. 7-12; App. 30, ll. 21-22.

During the Denno hearing, Petitioner testified consistently with the statement he gave in April 2018. Petitioner maintained that he had been awake for several days using methamphetamine prior to being interviewed on November 9, 2017, and that he had difficulty remembering the conversations he had had with police that day. App. 47, l. 21-App. 49, l. 17. When questioned about the incident, he testified that Wilkins had stabbed Stone while Stone was on top of him, but he was unsure how many times she stabbed him. He further testified that he dismembered Stone's body because Wilkins asked him to. App. 54, ll. 6-13. Petitioner stated he gave false statements to police on November 9, 2017, to protect Wilkins. App. 65, l. 21-App. 66, l. 1.

The trial court ultimately ruled Petitioner's statements were admissible. The court acknowledged there was conflicting testimony about whether Petitioner was under the influence when he gave his first two statements. However, the court found the detectives' testimony that he did not appear to be under the influence and that he spoke coherently and logically enough to provide them with a cover-up for his mother meant he was not sufficiently under the influence such that his ability to understand what he was doing was impaired. App. 79, l. 2-23.

At the conclusion of the Denno hearing, the State moved to prevent the defense from presenting evidence of third-party guilt. Counsel Morin explained that Wilkins had also been charged with the murder of Stone and that the defense intended to pursue the theory that Wilkins, not Petitioner, committed the murder. Solicitor Barnette informed the court that Wilkins had

been charged with murder but that she had recently pled guilty<sup>4</sup> before Judge Cole. The State did not know if Wilkins would testify during trial and stated it would depend on what the evidence showed. In allowing the defense to pursue third-party guilt, the trial court noted that there was no dispute that two people were present when Stone was murdered and that the question for a jury would be which one committed the murder if the parties did not act in concert. The State agreed and informed the trial court that it would be requesting a “hand of one, hand of all” charge if the evidence presented supported the charge. App. 80, l. 1-App. 82, l. 11.

The State also moved pre-trial to exclude any testimony regarding prior altercations between the defendants and Stone. Specifically, the State sought to exclude a 2014 domestic violence incident involving Wilkins and Stone and a 911 phone call made by Stone the day of the murder. Regarding Stone’s domestic violence conviction, the State argued it was too remote in time and not relevant to the case. Counsel Morin argued the conviction supported the defense theory of the case that Wilkins and Stone had prior problems which gave her a motive to murder him. As to the 911 call made by Stone on the day of the murder telling police that he did not want Petitioner on his property, the State argued the call was not relevant, was hearsay, and if relevant was highly prejudicial. Defense counsel argued that the 911 call included statements by Stone of his intent to harm Petitioner if he came to Stone’s home was relevant and was

---

<sup>4</sup> Wilkins ultimately pled to accessory after the fact to a felony and desecration of human remains. She was sentenced to an aggregate term of twenty-years imprisonment. The murder indictment was dismissed. At the same plea hearing, Wilkins also pled guilty to a conspiracy to commit kidnapping charge for an additional fifteen-year concurrent sentence. See <https://publicindex.sccourts.org/Cherokee/PublicIndex/PISearch.aspx> (search Wilkins, Dawn); See also Wise v. Wise, 394 S.C. 591, 601, 716 S.E.2d. 117, 122 (Ct. App. 2011) (noting an appellate court can take judicial notice of a fact that was not before the lower court if the fact is indisputable); Freeman v. McBee, 280 S.C. 490, 313 S.E.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1984) (stating a court can take judicial notice of its own records, files and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records).

admissible under the hearsay exception of then-existing mental state of the declarant contained in Rule 803(3), SCRE. The trial court ultimately ruled that it would not rule on the motion to exclude the evidence of the prior altercations between the parties until the issue arose during trial. App. 82, l. 10-88, l. 7. Prior to the court taking a brief recess the State then put on the record that it had offered to dismiss the dismembering a body charge if Petitioner pled “straight up” to the murder charge. App. 88, l. 11-App. 89, l. 5.

When the trial court reconvened, the State announced that Petitioner was pleading guilty, without negotiations or recommendations, to the charge of murder. App. 89, ll. 9-18. During the plea colloquy, the court asked Petitioner whether he had a defense to the charge of murder, to which he responded that he felt if he went to trial, he would be found guilty. He stated that if he went to trial, he would tell the jury what happened, which was that he and Stone fought, and it resulted in Stone’s death. The trial court again asked if Petitioner had committed the crime of murder, to which he replied, “[y]es, your Honor.” App. 92, l. 13-App. 93, l. 15. Petitioner informed the court that he had only completed the eighth grade and that he had been treated at William S. Hall Psychiatric Facility for behavioral problems, PTSD, and substance abuse. App. 100, ll. 24-25; App. 102, l. 2-App. 103, l. 1.

The trial court questioned Counsel Morin about any possible defenses. Counsel Morin responded that he may have been able to establish a case for manslaughter or a case for self-defense, but he believed the success of those defenses was negligible. App. 116, l. 24-App. 117, l. 9. The trial court confirmed that Petitioner wanted to have his guilty plea accepted and then asked Petitioner if he had anything to say. Petitioner responded that he planned to use his time incarcerated to finish his education and become a better person. He apologized to the family for what had happened to Stone and stated he wished he could go back in time and change what

occurred. When the court specifically asked what Petitioner admitted to doing, he stated that he was “truly guilty of the dismemberment” but felt that if he went to trial for murder, he would be found guilty. Petitioner stated that he had only stabbed Stone after he was deceased but that he had no way to prove that and feared he would be convicted as an accomplice to Wilkins. App. 118, l. 8-App. 119, l. 22. The trial court ultimately accepted Petitioner’s plea and sentenced him to thirty-five-years’ incarceration. App. 124, ll. 16-19; App. 129.

### *Post-Conviction Relief Proceedings*

Petitioner did not appeal his conviction and sentence. On December 2, 2020, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel and a Brady<sup>5</sup> violation. App. 162-169. On June 11, 2021, the State filed a return and motion for a more definite statement. App. 169-178. An evidentiary hearing was convened before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., on April 19, 2022. The State was represented by Chelsey Marto. Petitioner was represented by Rodney Richey. App. 179-180. At the hearing, Petitioner proceeded on a single claim of newly discovered evidence.

Petitioner testified that he did not stab Stone and that Wilkins was solely responsible for the murder of Stone. He presented a letter, written to him from Wilkins, in which she admitted to stabbing Stone the night of the murder. App. 184, l. 6-App. 185, l. 19; App. 226. Petitioner admitted he had pled guilty but stated he did so because he did not feel like he could fight the charge. App. 187, ll. 6-11. On cross-examination, Petitioner testified consistently with his statement from April 2018 and his testimony at the Denno hearing. Petitioner maintained that Wilkins had called him, stating Stone was threatening her, and while on the phone he heard Stone threaten them both. He confirmed he was there when Stone was killed but stated that he

---

<sup>5</sup> 373 U.S. 83 (1963)

did not kill him and only took part in the dismemberment. He stated he pled guilty because Wilkins was saying he stabbed Stone, and with the false statement he gave while under the influence of methamphetamine, everything was stacked against him, so he was scared to go to trial. App. 189, l. 3-App. 191, l. 3. Petitioner testified that he only did what his mother told him to do that day, from going to pick her up to attempting to get rid of Stone's body after Wilkins had killed him. App. 191, ll. 5-17. He stated he was defending himself from Stone, who was on top of Petitioner with a switchblade, when he saw Wilkins move her hands down in a stabbing motion. App. 192, ll. 10-19.

Wilkins testified at Petitioner's PCR hearing and authenticated the letter she sent Petitioner wherein she admitted to stabbing Stone. App. 198, ll. 3-21. Wilkins admitted that she had stabbed Stone twice in his lower back with a "dragon dagger." She confirmed that Petitioner had not stabbed Stone. She testified that had not admitted to anyone that she was the one who had stabbed Stone to death while the case was pending. Wilkins testified she called Petitioner for help that day because Stone had threatened her life, when he arrived, Stone jumped him and the two were fighting. She claimed that during the fight, Stone had Petitioner pinned and was getting a knife out of his pocket to harm Petitioner, so she stabbed Stone to stop him from killing her son. App. 197, l. 7-App. 201, l. 24.

Wilkins testified that Stone "didn't do much of anything" after being stabbed and that Petitioner was able to subdue him by placing him in a chokehold. App. 202, ll. 1-12. However, she believed the stabbing was what ultimately killed Stone. App. 203, ll. 2-24. She openly admitted during the PCR hearing that she committed the murder of Stone and that she let Petitioner "take the fall" for it because she was scared and not clear minded at the time. She

stated she has since been medicated and was admitting to being the person who murdered Stone to set things right. App. 205, l. 16-App. 207, l. 22.

Counsel Morin confirmed that the first time he had heard Wilkins admit to murdering Stone was during the PCR hearing. He believed her confession would have been helpful to Petitioner's case but acknowledged there were multiple stories about what had happened when Stone was murdered. App. 211, l. 15-App. 212, l. 17. He admitted that Petitioner could have been convicted under a "hand of one, hand of all" theory and stated that he believed entering the plea was a better alternative to going to trial. App. 215, l. 22-App. 216, l. 8. He opined that Wilkins's confession would have likely resulted in her getting a higher sentence, but he did not know if it would have impacted Petitioner's sentence. App. 217, ll. 8-14.

Solicitor Barnette testified that he had not heard Wilkins admit to the murder prior to the PCR hearing. He noted that both had given various statements that had changed, and he was amazed that they had changed their story again after the case was over. He believed he would have been able to convict both under the "hand of one, hand of all" theory because Petitioner put Stone in a chokehold after Wilkins had stabbed him. App. 219, l. 15-App. 220, l. 16. On cross-examination, he admitted that Wilkins's statement at the hearing stating she was the culpable party in Stone's death was given under oath and that he would not have let her plead down to accessory after the fact if she had admitted to the murder. He confirmed that at trial the State would have proceeded under the theory that Petitioner was the principal actor in the murder based on the statements he gave on November 9, 2017. According to Solicitor Barnette, Wilkins's admission to the crime would not have impacted his analysis of Petitioner's case. App. 221 l. 1- App. 222, l. 20.

The PCR court took the matter under advisement. App. 223, ll. 9-10. An order of dismissal was filed on July 5, 2022. App. 227-234. In the order, the PCR court found that Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proof under the test articulated in Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 470, 765 S.E.2d 123, 130 (2014). The court found that because Petitioner had seemingly always been aware that Wilkins, and not him, had stabbed Stone that the information was not new. The court further wrote that even if Wilkins was now willing to assume responsibility for the murder, it did not mitigate Petitioner's culpability under the "hand of one, hand of all" theory. The court reasoned that the ultimate analysis regarding Petitioner's guilt remained unchanged considering Wilkins' confession and that the information was therefore not of "such a weight and quality that the plea must be vacated in the interests of justice." App. 201.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred when it determined that Petitioner failed to prove his claim of newly discovered evidence where the court ruled that the post-plea confession to the murder of Stone by Petitioner's biological mother and co-defendant was 1) not new information to Petitioner and 2) not evidence of such a weight and quality that the interests of justice required Petitioner's plea to be vacated.

### *Jamison v. State*

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