RECEIVED

Jun 30 2023

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Cherokee County
Honorable G. D. Morgan, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Plea Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000977

CHARLES BRIDGES, SCDC # 382881,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

L. DAVID LEGGETT
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104366

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks relief under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A)(4), which provides for post-conviction relief when “there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice.” This Court laid out the analysis for petitions seeking relief from a guilty plea because of newly discovered evidence in Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 765 S.E.2d 123 (2014). In Jamison, the Court held:

when a PCR applicant seeks relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence following a guilty plea, relief is appropriate only where the applicant presents evidence showing that (1) the newly discovered evidence was discovered after the entry of the plea and, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered prior to the entry of the plea; and (2) the newly discovered evidence is of such a weight and quality that, under the facts and circumstances of that particular case, the “interest of justice” requires the applicant's guilty plea to be vacated. In other words, a PCR applicant may successfully disavow his or her guilty plea only where the interests of justice outweigh the waiver and solemn admission of guilt encompassed in a plea of guilty and the compelling interests in maintaining the finality of guilty-plea convictions.

Id. at 470, 765 S.E.2d at 130. The court warned, “[i]n so holding, we caution that it will be the rare case indeed where the interests of justice will require that a knowing and voluntary guilty plea be vacated through post-conviction relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence, for an unconditional guilty plea involving an admission of guilt and a waiver of trial and all defenses will generally preclude any subsequent challenge to factual guilt.” Id.

Under his new theory of the case, Petitioner submits that he was actively fighting Mr. Stone when Wilkins stabbed Mr. Stone. Therefore, Petitioner was aware that Wilkins stabbed Mr. Stone prior to the entry of his guilty plea. As a result, the PCR Court correctly ruled that Wilkins’ post-plea confession does not constitute evidence discovered after the entry of the plea which could not have been discovered prior to the plea, and even if her testimony and letter constitutes newly discovered evidence, her biases and motivation to lie means the evidence is not of such weight and

quality that Respondent's guilty plea should be vacated. Finally, the testimony of both Petitioner's plea counsel and the original solicitor make clear that even had Wilkins' testimony or letter been introduced prior to Petitioner's plea, they would not have had an impact on his guilt.

I. The post-plea confession by Petitioner's codefendant and biological mother does not constitute evidence discovered after the entry of the plea.

Petitioner was aware of his mother's alleged involvement in the killing prior to his guilty plea; therefore, he is not entitled to relief under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(A)(4). In Jamison, the Court required that applicants seeking relief under subsection 4 must present evidence that "the newly discovered evidence was discovered after the entry of the plea and, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered prior to the entry of the plea" Petitioner has not met this burden because he was aware of Wilkins' involvement in the crime at the time of his guilty plea, even though that was prior to receiving her letter.

Petitioner's newly discovered evidence centers on Wilkins' involvement in the crime. Petitioner testified to the PCR Court that his mother stabbed Mr. Stone, not him. App. at 184. In support of this, Petitioner submitted a letter from his mother in which she states "If I hadn't stabbed [Mr. Stone] that night I never would have known that I had that in me" App. at 226. In addition, Wilkins confirmed the veracity of the letter and testified to the PCR Court that she stabbed Mr. Stone while Petitioner fought him. App. at 196-197. The PCR court correctly held that none of this constitutes newly discovered evidence. App. at 232.

According to both Petitioner's and Wilkins' testimony at the PCR hearing, Petitioner was under Mr. Stone when Wilkins stabbed Mr. Stone. App. at 191-192, 200-201. Even under his new theory of the case, Petitioner admits that he was present at the time of the stabbing and saw Wilkins make a stabbing motion towards Mr. Stone. App. at 192. Therefore, Petitioner was aware of who stabbed Mr. Stone since the time the crime occurred. Petitioner may have gathered additional

information regarding Wilkins' involvement in the crime, eg, the letter and her testimony, but he has not discovered evidence which reveals new facts to him. As a result, evidence regarding Wilkins' involvement should not be construed as newly discovered evidence.

Moreover, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, Petitioner could have provided evidence regarding Wilkins' involvement during a trial in his case. For example, he could have testified that he saw her make a stabbing motion towards Mr. Stone or his counsel could have called her and questioned her about her involvement. The letter and Wilkins' testimony at the PCR hearing buttress Petitioner's claims regarding her involvement, but they are not the sole evidence which could prove her involvement. Therefore, Petitioner has not demonstrated that the purported newly discovered evidence was not discoverable prior to his guilty plea through reasonable diligence.

Furthermore, Petitioner's claim of newly discovered evidence does not rise to the level of evidence described in Jamison. Notably, while Jamison lays out the analytical framework for claims of newly discovered evidence, it is a case in which the applicant was denied relief. Jamison, 410 S.C. at 472, 765 S.E.2d at 131. In Jamison, the applicant elicited testimony from a witness to the crime who was unwilling to testify at the original trial due to the threats from a third party. Id., 410 S.C. at 463, 765 S.E.2d at 126. The Court held that the testimony was not discoverable at the time of the guilty plea, but the evidence was not of a weight and quality that required the vacation of Jamison's plea. Id. at 470-471, 765 S.E.2d at 130. The Court pointed to the fact that while Jamison was unaware of a factor that may have impacted his decision to plead guilty (namely the additional testimony), "[a] defendant is not entitled to withdraw his plea merely because he discovers long after the plea has been accepted that his calculus misapprehended the quality of the State's case of the likely penalties attached to alternative courses of action." Id. (quoting Brady v.

United States, 397 U.S. 742, 757 (1970). In contrast, in this case, Wilkins' involvement was known to Petitioner at the time of the crime and at the time of his guilty plea. Additionally, he could have offered evidence regarding her involvement through a number of methods, all of which were available to him at the time of the plea. Therefore, unlike the evidence in Jamison, Wilkins' letter and testimony should not be considered newly discovered evidence.

Thus, the post-conviction relief court properly ruled that Petitioner did not present newly discovered evidence which entitled him to relief under subsection 4, and the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari.

II. Moreover, the post-plea confession by Petitioner's codefendant and biological mother is not evidence of such weight and quality that Respondent's guilty plea should be vacated.

Even assuming Petitioner's evidence regarding Wilkins' involvement can be construed as newly discovered evidence, it is not evidence of such weight and quality that Respondent's guilty plea should be vacated. For an applicant to receive relief, the newly discovered evidence must be "of such a weight and quality that . . . the 'interest of justice' requires the applicant's guilty plea to be vacated." Id. at 470, 765 S.E.2d at 130. After promulgating the analytical structure for cases like this, the Court in Jamison hastened to add, "[W]e caution that it will be the rare case indeed where the interests of justice will require that a knowing and voluntary guilty plea be vacated through post-conviction relief on the basis of newly discovered evidence." Id. In this case, Petitioner's evidence holds little weight and is of poor quality, such that the interest of justice does not require vacating his plea.

First, the evidence which Petitioner now presents has limited credibility. It is at odds with both his and Wilkins' statements to law enforcement during the investigation of Mr. Stone's death. Compare App. at 197 (Wilkins' testimony) and 130-151 (Petitioner and Wilkins' statements). In

Petitioner's second statement to law enforcement, he admitted to stabbing Mr. Stone in the back. App. at 134. During the investigation, Wilkins' never admitted to being involved with the fight. App. at 144-151. In fact, she asserted that she barely saw the fight because she was inside sitting on the couch. App. at 149. In contrast, at the PCR hearing, both Petitioner and Wilkins' testified that she stabbed Mr. Stone while Petitioner was fighting him. App. at 185, 197. While this does align with Petitioner's third statement to law enforcement, the ever-changing narratives from Petitioner and Wilkins' greatly diminish their credibility.

Additionally, Wilkins' letter should not carry significant weight. The letter is undated, but it appears to have been written years after the murder. App. at 226. The letter is also unsigned. App. at 226. While the letter does contain language about stabbing Mr. Stone, the document entered into evidence appears to only be one page of a three-page letter. App. at 226. When taken alongside Wilkins' bias and motivation to fabricate evidence to aide her son, these shortcomings diminish the letter's probative value. App. at 226.

Finally, even if the court gives credence to the letter and Wilkins' testimony, both Petitioner's plea counsel and the original solicitor testified that this evidence would not have altered the outcome of Petitioner's case. Petitioner's plea counsel testified, "I believe that the testimony Mrs. Wilkins gave would probably result in her getting a higher sentence, but I don't know that it would make his sentence go down." App. at 217, lines 10-13. Also, when asked whether Petitioner could have been convicted under the theory of "hand of one, hand of all," Petitioner's counsel replied, "Oh, he certainly could have yes." App. at 216, line 1. Similarly, the solicitor's testimony regarding the effect of Mrs. Wilkins testimony was:

- Q Do you still feel like it's a very strong case given Ms. Wilkins' statement?
A Yeah. Well, the problem is the statements they've given, both of them. Like I said, they've changed their stories. It's amazing they've changed their story after the case is done, a couple years later, from that standpoint. That

was not the story that was going to be told at trial.

Q

Okay.

A

Or the testimony that was going to be done at trial.

Q

Even if it was, though, do you still think you could have found a guilty verdict under "hand of one, hand of all" for murder?

A

Yes, ma'am. On both of them. Because both of them are just as culpable from that standpoint. Even her testimony today saying that he had him in a choke hold even after she stabbed him, he kept him in a choke hold. It shows the "hand of -- hand of one, hand of all" from that standpoint, because they were both guilty in this case.

Q

Yeah.

App. at 219, line 21 to page 220, line 17. The solicitor clarified saying:

Q

The only analysis that may have changed, given Mr. Wilkins' statement, was that you would pursue a higher charge of her, correct?

A

No question, I would have. If she would have gave that statement -- if we had that statement prior to the trial and prior to the guilty plea.

Q

And it does not change your analysis at all when it comes to Mr. Bridges' case, correct?

A

It does not.

App. at 222, lines 12-20. In light of this testimony, even if the PCR court had found Wilkins' testimony to be credible, the court correctly ruled that the additional testimony would not have had an impact on Petitioner's conviction or sentence. As a result, the evidence was not "of such a weight and quality that . . . the 'interest of justice' requires the applicant's guilty plea to be vacated."

Thus, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief and this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

Because the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations, this Court should deny certiorari. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.